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General Information

Location:

Date of Construction:
First Owner:
Architect:
. Builder:

Current Owner:
Present Use:

Present Zoning;:

Palm Beach County
Tax Folio Number:

Legal Description:

177 Clarendon Avenue
Palm Beach, Florida

1929

Robert Amcotts Wilson
Unknown

Arnold Construction Company
Paul M. Pompeo and Lisa B. Bair

Residential

RA

50434335030000120

Vita Serena Lots 12 & 13
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II1. Architectural Information

The residence at 177 Clarendon Avenue is a two-story Medlterranean Revwal style
estate built in 1929 by Arnold Construction Company.' It was a “spec” house
constructed after the hught of the 1920s Florida Land Boom and at the beginning
of the Great Depression.” The south facing residence was constructed of frame and
hollow clay tile covered with smooth stucco. The house sits on a large corner lot at
the intersection of Clarendon Avenue and Lake Park Drive just east of the
Clarendon Avenue boat basin.

Mediterranean Revival style architecture is an eclectic style incorporating
architectural elements derived from the area around the Mediterranean Sea.
especially Italy and Spain. The style is found most frequently in states like Florida
that have a Spanish Colonial heritage, but its use gained national popularity after
the Pan-American Exhibition held in San Diego in 1915. In Palm Beach, the style
was first popularized in 1919 by Addison Mizner’s design for the Everglades Club
followed by his residential design of the Stotesbury’s estate El Mirasol. Other
architects followed on this style and transformed it with variations of their own.
The popularity of the style soared in the 1920s and remained a pervasive influence
on building design until World War II.

' This house has often been attributed to Marion Sims Wyeth. However, the plans are not signed and
after searching several archives and speaking with others who have worked on this house. there is no
concrete evidence that Marion Sims Wyeth designed it.

“ The Building Permit # 15229 is dated August 1. 1929. The Stock Market crash. known as Black
Tuesday. occurred on October 29, 1929, and was the official start of the Great Depression in the United
States.



177 Clarendon Avenue was designed in a U-shape with attached wings on either
side extending to the north. Unlike many of the earlier Mediterranean Revival
style estates in Palm Beach, this house is free from excessive ornament and the
decoration is primarily achieved through the use of stone window and door
surrounds, ornamental iron doors and carved brackets under the eaves. The
entrance fagade is located along the south side of the symmetrical center block and
contains a quarried keystone door surround with a cast-stone shell and decorative
iron doors. Above the entry is a second-story balcony with simple French doors
and a matching rail. All four windows on the facade of this section are rectangular
awning windows divided into six lights, with those on the first story being
narrower and protected with metal grilles. However, it is interesting to note that
the original plans show an asymmetrical design for this fagade with the east portion
featuring a small window on the first floor and a large arched window on the
second floor. It is not known whether the house was built with these features and
later altered or if it was built in its current design.

The roof of the residence is a collection of intersecting low-pitched hip roofs
covered in red-clay barrel tiles. The slight overhanging eaves have carved wooden
brackets below. All of the facades, including those within the courtyard, have
varied window fenestration, with the majority of the windows being divided light
rectangular awning windows. Both the east and west wings have exterior chimneys



with stone caps and there is an original 2-bay garage with a wood cornice and
carved brackets on the east wing.’

An important feature of Mediterranean Revival style estates is their blending of
indoor and outdoor spaces. 177 Clarendon Avenue has a central courtyard, with a
patio, fountains, pool and cabana house extending to the north. This courtyard
was originally accessed from the open loggia just beyond the grand entrance foyer
as well as from several first floor rooms and the breezeway connecting the main
house to the guest rooms. The access is more limited with changes that have
occurred over time. Portions of the original first floor interior areas feature large
rooms with original Spanish tile floors, pecky cypress ceilings and ornate stone
fireplaces.
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* The south two bays of the garage are original. The third bay was added later.

6



Throughout the history of the 177 Clarendon Avenue there have been many
additions and alterations to the property. In 1968, all of the original windows were
replaced. The building permit states that the size of the openings were not altered
but the windows were replaced with mostly divided light awning windows rather
than double hung or casement windows." In 1982, the first floor loggia was
expanded to the north and enclosed and a large balcony terrace was added to the
second story above this loggia. The following year, eight windows were replaced
on the house and a guest bedroom and bath were added to the pool cabana.” In
1987, a second story bedroom, bathroom and terraces were added to the northeast
wing of the house. A coffered ceiling was also added to the dining room ceiling to
give it more interest. In 2006, a door replaced a window on the east side of the east
wing creating a side entry to the dwelling and a window was added above. At
unknown dates a second story and stair tower were added to the northwest wing of
the original one-story guest area, the breezeway linking this space to the main
house was enclosed, a hall linking the main house to the staff quarters on the
second floor was added and a third garage bay was attached on the north end of the
original garage. Much of the open-air access between the main house and the
courtyard was closed off when the breezeway and loggia were enclosed, and the
original transparent view of the courtyard and gardens from the entry foyer was
diminished. ~ Stone surrounds were added to the windows in the courtyard
elevations, and possibly to other areas of the house. Sometime in the past 15 years,
coral stone with a patterned stringcourse was applied over the stucco to the front
fagade significantly altering its historic appearance. In addition, the circular
driveway serving the front entry was removed and now there is no clear pedestrian
access to the historic front entry.

* Palm Beach Building permit #65068 states “Replace all existing windows — all openings exist; no
change in size.”
* Drawings done by Ames Bennett & Associates dated April 1983 show this addition.
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IV. Historical Information

177 Clarendon Avenue was built in 1929 as a “spec” house by Arnold
Construction Company for an estimated cost of $40,000.° Arnold Construction
Company, headed by James Y. and W.H. Arnold, was a leading construction
company in Palm Beach from the 1920s through the 1970s. The Arnolds arrived in
Palm Beach in 1925 during the Florida land and building boom. In addition to
building countless houses of varying sizes and styles, they also constructed
hospitals, churches, apartment buildings, country clubs and other commercial
buildings throughout Florida. In Palm Beach, Arnold Construction Company
worked with all of the prominent architects and built a number of the early grand
estates and significant mid-town houses. They also worked as a development
company and built numerous houses like 177 Clarendon Avenue as investments
properties. By 1929, the Florida Land and Housing Boom was over and it was the
beginning of the Great Depression. Fortunately for builders in Palm Beach, not the
entire Winter colony was severely affected by the land bust or the Great
Depression.” There were more than $3 million in building permits issued in Palm
Beach in 1930 and the Town had one of its busiest seasons. Buyers unscathed by
the Depression were able to purchase houses like 177 Clarendon Avenue in the
sought-after Estate Section of Palm Beach.

The first owners of 177 Clarendon Avenue were Captain & Mrs. Robert Amcotts
Wilson who purchased the house in 1932. The Wilsons were London residents
who spent the winter season in Palm Beach. Newspaper articles from the 1930s
often mention them dining and attending parties with members of Palm Beach’s
“International Set” and “Café Society.” * In 1933, they hosted the wedding of
William Randolf Hearst, Jr. to Miss Lorelle McCarver at their 177 Clarendon
Avenue home. The wedding was described in the newspaper as “an event of major
importance in the colony” with the reception held in the “villa’s patio.”

In 1939, Mr. and Mrs. Marshall Noel Seeburg purchased the house and that same
year they added a large pool and cabana house at the north end of the patio. M.
Noel Seeburg was the son of Justice P. Seeburg who started the J.P. Seeburg Piano
Company in Chicago in 1907. The Seeburg Company became one of the first
manufacturers of a multi-select jukebox with the introduction of the “Audiophone”

¢ Town of Palm Beach Building Permit #396, March 16, 1925.

7 Augustus Mayhew, “Unforgettable Palm Beach: Island Endured Great Depression Largely Unscathed.”
Palm Beach Daily News. February 21, 2011.

¥ In the International Set the Wilson’s were associated with The Duke of Windsor, the Duke and Duchess
of Sutherlan, Sir Philip Sassoon, Mrs. Louis Jaques Balson (the former Duchess of Marlborough) and
Captain Allie Macintosh.
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in 1928. In 1939, in addition to purchasing 177 Clarendon Avenue, Noel became
president of the Seeburg Company.” He was a successful president and in1949
Seeburg Company changed the face of Jukebox history when it engineered a
mechanism that could play both sides of 50 records, a true 100 select jukebox. In
Palm Beach, the Seeburgs were active in the Island’s social scene and were often
noted for their philanthropy to local charities. '

In 1963, the Seeburgs sold 177 Clarendon Avenue to Donald H. Parsons of
Birmingham, Michigan. During his eight-year ownership of the house, he was
listed as a lawyer, real estate developer and banker. Donald Parsons was also an
avid hockey fan and in the late 1960s he became managing partner of the
Pittsburgh Penguins NHL hockey team.

Herman and Ruth Holtzburg purchased 177 Clarendon Avenue in 1971. The
Holtzburg’s were best known for their Worth Avenue shop “Tops’n Bottoms,”
which was a staple on Worth Avenue from 1948 through the 1980s. In 1982,
Leslie Claydon-White, an antique dealer, purchased the house. During his twenty-
year ownership of the house he did a number of additions and alterations to the
property. Sterling Morton Hamill, the great-grandson of Joy Morton, founder of
the Morton Salt Company, purchased the house in 2003. The current owners, Paul
M. Pompeo and Lisa B. Bair, purchased 177 Clarendon Avenue in 2013.

V. Architect’s Biography

Although there have been suggestions that the house at 177 Clarendon Avenue was
designed by Marion Sims Wyeth, no primary source information could be located
to substantiate this claim.

Arnold Construction Company

Arnold Construction Company, headed by James Y. and W.H. Arnold, was a
leading construction company in Palm Beach from the 1920s through the 1970s.
The Arnolds arrived in Palm Beach in 1925 during the Florida land and building
boom. In addition to building countless houses of varying sizes and styles, they
also constructed hospitals, churches, apartment buildings, country clubs and other

? Newspaper articles described him as a very sharp businessman who reorganized the company in the
early 1940’s to compete more effectively with Wurlitzer and Rock-Ola.
' Palm Beach Daily News articles 1939-1963.
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commercial buildings throughout Florida.!" In Palm Beach, Amold Construction
Company worked with all of the prominent architects and built a number of the
early grand estates and significant mid-town houses.

A few of the grand estates and significant in-town houses built by Amold
Construction Company include The Kennedy Estate on North Ocean Boulevard,
E.Z. Nutting House Nuestro Paridiso on South Ocean Boulevard (Julius Jacobs),
The Moffett House on South Ocean Boulevard (John Volk), the Charles Manning
House on Clarke Avenue, The John Rutherford House on North Lake Trail
(Treanor & Fatio), the Ernest Howe Residence on Clarke Avenue (Howard Major),
and many others. The company’s files were lost in a fire so there is no complete
record of their projects. These projects were noted in newspaper articles in files at
the Historical Society of Palm Beach County and in the Palm Beach Post online
archives.

In the 1930’s, Arnold Construction Company formed Palm Beach Modern Homes
as their chief development company. The company hired the best architects in
Palm Beach to design a series of “spec” houses on Pendleton Avenue and
Pendleton Lane. Nearly half of the original structures were designed by John L.
Volk, but Maurice Fatio, Howard Major, Gustav Maass, Marion Syms Wyeth,
Howard Chilton and Belford Shumate all had part in designing houses on the
street. The Armold Construction Company continued to build houses and
commercial buildings throughout Florida and surrounding states into the 1970s
when the company became a division of McCloskey and Company.

VI. Statement of Significance:

177 Clarendon Avenue is a Mediterranean Revival style house built in 1929 by
Amold Construction Company on a sizeable lot in the Estate Section of Palm
Beach. During its 85-year history, many prominent people have owned the house
and resided there during important times in their careers. Unfortunately, the house
has been significantly altered over the years and has lost a good deal of its
architectural integrity. Many of the alterations were done in the recent past and if
removed and restored, the house could redeem much of its architectural integrity.

1n 1929, while working on 177 Clarendon, they were awarded the contract to build Seminole Golf
Club. Marion Sims Wyeth was the architect and the clubhouse design was to be a Spanish U-shaped
building covered with stucco with ornamental concrete trim surrounding a large patio and pool.

12 Removing the coral stone on the fagade would be recommended. Also, restoring loggias and openings in the
courtyard on the first and second story would be recommended so that effective indoor and outdoor circulation could
be reestablished.
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VII. Criteria for Designation

Section 54-161 of the Town of Palm Beach Landmarks Preservation Ordinance
outlines the criteria for designation of a landmark or landmark site and suggests
that at least one criterion must be met to justify the designation. Listed below are
criteria which relate to this property and justification for designation:

(1)“Exemplifies or reflects the broad cultural, political, economic or social
history of the nation, state, county or town.”

177 Clarendon Avenue was built in 1929 at the end of the Florida Land and
Housing Boom and at the start of the Great Depression. New construction had
slowed in Palm Beach after the Florida Land Bust in late 1926 and the devastating
1928 hurricane, however, reputable builders like Arnold Construction Company,
who had profited substantially during the Land Boom were able to stay profitable
during the Land Bust and Great Depression by doing additions, renovations and
new construction for Palm Beach clients and potential owners who were not
significantly effected by the economic setbacks of the times. 177 Clarendon
Avenue therefore reflects the broad economic and social history of the Town of
Palm Beach fulfilling criterion (1).
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